FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
5/21/2021 3:30 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/21/2021 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

99796-9

Court of Appeals Division One Case No. 80966-1

In the Supreme Court of the State of Mazhington

Superior Court of Whatcom County Case No. 16-2-01090-0

LAURA COZZA et al.,

Appellant-Petitioner,

ν.

PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,

Plaintiff-Respondent.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Scott E. Stafne, WSBA No. 6964
STAFNE LAW Advocacy & Consulting
239 N. Olympic Avenue
Arlington, WA 98223
360.403.8700
Scott@Stafnelaw.com
Attorney for Petioner

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Defendant/Counterclaimant/Appellant below Laura Cozza (hereafter referred to as "Cozza") asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part II of this petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

On March 15, 2021, the Court of Appeals, Division I (hereafter "Court of Appeals") affirmed the trial court's decision granting summary judgment in favor of Plaintiff PNC Bank National Association, its successors in interest and/or assigns (hereafter "PNC") and denying Cozza's Cross Motion for Summary Judgment. PNC Bank, Nat'l Ass'n v. Cozza, No. 80966-1-I, 2021 Wn. App. LEXIS 547 (Ct. App. Mar. 15, 2021). A copy of this decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-17.

On March 15, 2021—after calling for a response to Cozza's Motion for Reconsideration, but without calling for a reply—the Court of Appeals denied Cozza's motion. A copy of that Order denying reconsideration is in the Appendix at A–18.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Where the parties agreed the foreclosure Complaint and Affirmative Defenses thereto were grounded in the superior court's equity jurisdiction was the superior court required to demonstrate whether it accepted such jurisdiction and, if so, explain how the court exercised its equitable discretion in a manner capable of appellate review?

- 2. Did equity and the impairment of contracts clauses of the United States and Washington Constitutions require the superior court to apply the law of mortgages which was in effect on February 17, 2008, (the day the note and deed of trust were signed) to determine whether the deed security had become split from the note in such a way that the security was not enforceable?
- 3. Must Washington courts apply the Federal Due Process precedents related to judicial neutrality when they are invoked by litigants as a grounds for judicial recusal?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Relevant Facts

The Emergency Economic Stabilization Act of 2008, often called the "bank bailout of 2008," proposed by Treasury Secretary Henry Paulson, was passed by the 110th United States Congress, and signed into law by President George W. Bush as part of Public Law 110–343 on October 3, 2008, in the midst of the financial crisis of 2007–2008. The law created a 700-billion-dollar Troubled Asset Relief Program (TARP) to purchase distressed assets, mostly homes, from financial institutions. Ultimately, however, that fund was not used to purchase distressed assets (like Cozzas' mortgage loan). Instead, the money was given directly to banks to do with as they pleased.

PNC used some of the bailout money it was given to purchase National City Corporation and related entities. PNC's acquisition of National City Bank was completed in 2009. The deal was controversial due to PNC using TARP funds to buy National City only hours after accepting the funds. The government chose not to provide any funds to the National City entities.

The Cozzas¹ presented to the superior court as background several PNC foreclosure cases involving its merger with PNC, including *Cabage v. Nw. Tr. Servs.*, No. 45953-1-II, 2015 Wn. App. LEXIS 2942 (Ct. App. Dec. 1, 2015)². In *Cabage* PNC presented evidence that the merger between National City Bank and PNC occurred

[t]hrough a series of mergers, [in which] National City Bank of Indiana and National City Mortgage merged into National City Bank on October 1, 2008, and National City Bank then merged into PNC on November 6, 2009. Timothy R. Justice, Mortgage Officer for PNC, explained the mergers as follows: On April 11, 2006, National City Mortgage, the original lender, endorsed Cabage's note in blank and assigned the deed of trust to National City Mortgage Company. On May 23, 2006, National City Mortgage Company then sold Cabage's loan to Goldman Sachs Mortgage Company.

Cabbage, at 3-5.

¹ Both Laura Cozza and Matthew Cozza where named as Defendants and counterclaimants in the proceedings before in the superior court below. Laura Cozza, however, is the only Appellant on appeal.

² Other cases involving the purported PNC - National City Merger included, without limitation: *PNC Mortg. v. Khalsa*, 2017 N.M. App. Unpub. LEXIS 72 (Ct. App. Mar. 27, 2017); *PNC Mortg. v. Romero*, 2016-NMCA-064, 377 P.3d 461 (2016); *Green Tree Servicing, LLC v. Blazek*, No. 12CVE-11543, 2013 Ohio Misc. LEXIS 10907 (Ct. Com. Pl. Jan. 17, 2013).

In *Cabage*, Division II held that under the version of RCW 61.24 030(7) in effect in 2015 a genuine question of fact existed as to whether PNC had complied with Washington case law construing that statute. *See Cabage*, *supra.*, at **14–19. *See also* App. A64–65 (setting forth various versions of this statutory provision in effect since 1992.)

There is undisputed evidence in the record relating to the Cross Motions for Summary Judgment indicating National City, misrepresented, *i.e.*, inflated, Laura Cozza's income by \$800.00 per month in order to sell the loan to Freddie Mac for purposes of securitization.

This evidence includes three letters, included as pages A19–28 of the Appendix. Two of the letters are from Freddie Mac to PNC. The PNC letters establish that Cozzas' loan was purchased by Freddie Mac on April 14, 2008, two days after the note agreement and deed of trust trust security instrument were agreed to. See Closing date set forth at App, A20 and again at A-27. Freddie Mac's two letters to PNC also charge that: "The Co-Borrower's [Laura Cozza's] income was overstated." See App at A22 and A27.

As can be seen PNC's response did not dispute the date Freddie Mac claims to have acquired the loan, *i.e.*, April 14, 2008. However, PNC does argue that Laura Cozza's income was not overinflated. *See* App at A24–25. But the testimony from Laura Cozza confirms PNC's illegal conduct in padding her income to obtain the Freddie Mac loan. "When Robert Nitz generated the loan application he padded my

income by about \$800, and he knew this, while at the time he was forcing us to sign a loan under threat of foreclosure for an amount that was more than we had originally agreed to pay." App. A 29, paragraph 37. *See also* generally A29 through A30.

In Laura Cozza's Motion for Reconsideration of the Court of Appeals decision, she questioned how the Court of Appeals could ignore the date of Freddie Mac's purchase of the loan from National City, see App. A45-A50, and her own very clear testimony that National City purposely "padded" her income to sell the loan to Freddie Mac in the record pursuant to the cross motions for summary judgment. See App A45-A50. And in its responsive briefing to the motion for reconsideration PNC did not dispute that this evidence substantiated an alleged misrepresentation by PNC before the Superior Court that neither the Superior court nor the Court of Appeals has ever considered.

The Cozzas also argued to the Superior Court and Laura Cozza asserted on appeal that National City's illegal conduct in selling the loan to Freddie Mac based on Laura Cozza's misrepresented income and failure to return the loan to Freddie Mac when requested to do so split the mortgage deed security from the note in such a way as to make the deed of trust unenforceable. In support of this assertion Cozza relied upon *Bain v. Metro. Mortg. Grp., Inc.* 175 Wn2d 83, 285 P.3d. 34 (2012), which was part of the mortgage law in effect before the legislature modified the Deeds of Trust Act (DTA) in 2018 to allow

note holders to foreclose and thereby may have legislatively abrogated the Restatement of Law principles which applied in Washington up until then.

Finally, the Cozzas argued to the Superior Court and Laura Cozza argued in her Court of Appeals briefing and her Motion to Reconsider that the superior court judge adjudicating this case was required to disqualify himself based on objective Due Process precedents established by the United States Constitution. In support of the Superior Court judge's disqualification the Cozzas produced the then current Washington State Investment Board Thirty-Seventh Annual Report, which included a report on government workers', including judges', retirement accounts. This report demonstrated "that a substantial amount (in excess of 1 billion dollars) of judges and other public retirement funds are invested in mortgage-back securities, which are made up of loans like the one involved in this lawsuit."

The declaration of the Cozzas' attorney introducing this government document as evidence before the Superior Court, then went on to assert:

4. If such loans can be enforced through foreclosures, notwithstanding they originate in fraud, then investors, like judges and public employee's retirement funds will not lose money. If fraud, like has occurred in Laura's case, can prevent foreclosures then investors in mortgage-backed securities are less secure that their investments will be repaid given the rampant fraud relating to such investments which occurred from 2005–2009.

- 5. I bring this to the Court's attention on Laura's behalf because she and I both believe this situation poses a conflict of interest situation for judges and other public employees whose retirement funds are increased by the proceeds of foreclosures which are born out of fraud. This is because government employees directly profit at the expense of the people.
- 6. Under the Due Process Clause of the United States Constitution, a state judge should not be a judge in his own case or in a case where he or she has an interest in the outcome of the litigation. See e.g., Rippo v. Baker, 137 S. Ct. 905 (2017); Williams v. Pennsylvania, 136 S. Ct. 1899 (2016); Aetna Life Ins. Co. v. Lavoie, 475 U.S. 813, 106 S. Ct. 1580 (1986); In re Murchison, 349 U.S. 133, 136 (1955).

As can be seen, the Cozzas' challenge to the Superior Court was one based on *federal due process precedent*. As will be recalled the trial judge chose not to address Cozzas' disqualification argument. When Laura Cozza raised the same argument on appeal, Division I refused her federal due process challenge by claiming that there was no violation of similar Washington law. When Cozza moved to reconsider this decision based on the Court of Appeals failure to consider her Federal Due Process challenge, the Court of Appeals requested a response from PNC, but ultimately refused to reach this issue.

B. Procedure Below

The caption of the complaint and summons identifies "PNC, National Association, its successors in interest and/or assigns" as the Plaintiff in the "Complaint for Deed of Trust Foreclosure" of property owned by Laura Cozza and her former husband, Matthew. PNC's

foreclosure complaint also named as Defendants other parties PNC alleged might claim an interest in that real property.

The first paragraph of the complaint alleges "1. PNC Bank, National Association ("Plaintiff") is authorized to bring suit for foreclosure pursuant to 12 U.S.C. § 24." The Complaint alleges in the second allegation to its "Facts" section: "2. Plaintiff is the holder of the Note." The Complaint alleges in the fifth paragraph of that section: "5. Plaintiff, as successor by merger to National City Mortgage, a division of National City Bank is the current beneficiary of the Deed of Trust."

Cozzas denied each of these allegations in their Answer.

The Cozzas alleged as affirmative defenses that the Court lacked "personal jurisdiction" over husband, Matthew Cozza, and lacked "subject-matter jurisdiction" over the case. Cozzas also alleged as affirmative defenses—which related to the foregoing jurisdictional defenses—that Plaintiff failed "to comply with statutory prerequisites" and acted in a manner "prohibited by statute," "lacked standing", had committed "fraud," and engaged in such other misconduct for which courts of equity have traditionally afforded relief.³

On April 9, 2018, PNC moved for summary judgment, including

³ The Cozza's also alleged undue influence, unconscionability, unclean hands, unjust enrichment, and laches as a basis for equitable relief.

summary judgments on all of Cozzas' affirmative defenses including those that sounded in equity, but presented no facts in support of its challenges to the Cozzas' equitable claims. In its motion for summary judgment PNC reiterated, and supported by declaration, the allegation of its Complaint that "Plaintiff, as successor by merger to National City Mortgage, a division of National City Bank, is the current beneficiary of the Deed of Trust." PNC also argued that it had standing to foreclose simply because it held the note.

On August 26, 2019, the Cozzas filed a Cross Motion for Summary Judgment, which sought judgment regarding issues related to the superior court's jurisdiction as alleged in the pleadings, including among them whether the case should be decided pursuant to the superior court's equity jurisdiction.

On September 12, 2019, PNC responded to Cozzas' Cross Motion for Summary Judgment stating: "PNC agrees that claims for judicial foreclosure are equitable in nature."

On September 13, 2019, the Cozzas' responded to PNC's Motion for Summary Judgment and argued the 2008 note and deed of trust agreements signed by the Cozzas must be interpreted pursuant to the law as it existed in 2008. (Cozza contends the law in Washington in 2008 which applied to this mortgage was reflected in *Restatement (Third) of Property: Mortgages* § 5.4 (1997). This contention is based in part on this Court's decision in *Bain v. Metro. Mortg. Grp., Inc.* 175 Wn.2d at 112–13.)

Cozzas' response was supported by the Declaration of Cozzas' attorney who presented evidence that (1) the trial court appeared to a non-neutral judicial forum because all government workers, including judges, benefit economically by the Washington State Investment Board investing their retirement funds in mortgage-back securities which only become valuable if courts enforce mortgages as a matter of course outside of equity, notwithstanding that many, like this one, are steeped in misrepresentation, unconscionability, fraud and deceit; (2) affirmed that the documents from Freddie Mac asserting National City's overinflated Laura Cozza's earnings were produced by PNC in discovery; and (3) attached the 2018 amendments to the Deed of Trust designed to legislatively Act, which appear abrogate application of the Restatement (Third) of Property: Mortgages § 5.4 (1997), which holds that under circumstances where a mortgage instrument security is intentionally split from its paired note that security is unenforceable.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The trial court made no findings of fact nor conclusions at law because the superior court judge deemed them superfluous, stating:

It is well settled in Washington State that findings of fact and conclusions of law are not required in summary judgment proceedings, with some reviewing courts describing them as completely superfluous. *See Sinclair v. Betlach*, 1 Wn. App. 1033 at 1034. This is undoubtedly because any reviewing court will do so de novo engaging in

the same inquiry as this Court. See Columbia Community Bank v. Neuman Park, LLC, 177 Wn.2d 566 at 573.

Following oral argument and after considering the pleadings and cross-pleadings of the parties in the light most favorable to the other party, the Plaintiff's [PNC and successors'] motion for summary judgment is granted. The Defendants' [Cozzas'] motion for summary judgment is denied.

This Court should accept review of this appeal pursuant to RAP 13.4(a) and (b) for the reasons stated herein.

A. The trial court had an obligation to provide a reasoned decision capable of appellate review with regard to those disputes arising in equity.

Since before the birth of Christ until now there has been an omnipresent tension, greater or lesser at various times depending on governmental oppression, between governments' enforcement of laws and governments' need to provide justice for the people being governed. See e.g., Howard L. Oleck, Historical Nature of Equity Jurisprudence, 20 Fordham L. Rev. 23, 25-40 (1951). By the eleventh century it became apparent to this Nation's English ancestors that enforcement of laws did not always result in justice, particularly in cases where fraud, duress, unconscionable behavior, unjust enrichment and inflexible rules were involved. Id. See also Joseph J. Story LL. D, Commentaries on Equity Jurisprudence as Administered

in England and America, Vol. I (Fourth Edition 1864). Cf. Federal Judicial Center, Jurisdiction: Equity.⁴

Even today it remains true that "equity is the means by which a system of law balances out the need for certainty in rule-making with the need to achieve fair results in individual circumstances." Hudson, Alastair, Principles of Equity and Trusts, 2nd ed., p. 5. And Washington courts, particularly this Court, claim these same equitable principles still apply in Washington in the 21st century.

The goal of equity is to do substantial justice. Equity exists to protect the interests of deserving parties from the "'harshness of strict legal rules." Washington courts embrace a long and robust tradition of applying the doctrine of equity.

Columbia Cmty. Bank v. Newman Park, LLC, 177 Wn.2d 566, 569, 304 P.3d 472, 473 (2013). (Emphasis Supplied).

Certainly, there is a need for justice in Washington. In 2015 this Court published the Civil Legal Needs Study Update,⁵ which updated its 2003 report, The Washington State Civil Legal Needs Study.⁶ The Executive Summary of the 2015 Update begins: "Justice is absent for low income Washingtonians who frequently experience serious civil

https://www.fjc.gov/history/courts/jurisdiction-equity

⁴ Last accessed on May 16, 2021, at:

⁵ Last accessed on July 8, 2019, at https://ocla.wa.gov/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/CivilLegalNeedsStudy_October2015_V21_Final10_14_1 5.pdf.

⁶ Last accessed on July 8, 2019, at https://www.courts.wa.gov/newsinfo/content/taskforce/CivilLegalNeeds.pdf

legal problems."7

Many people in Washington believe this statement does not really express the truth about Washington's judicial system, which is that justice is absent for homeowners who must challenge moneylenders and debt buyers inequitable conduct because courts no longer routinely apply equitable principles when dealing with foreclosures that now economically benefit the government, its workers (including judges), and their wealthy collaborators.

The Court of Appeals in this decision treats equity jurisdiction as if it is an illegitimate child of the law, when precisely the opposite is true. Acknowledging that different standards apply to summary judgments brought pursuant to the superior court's equity jurisdiction, the Court of Appeals nonetheless holds the trial court does not have to tell the parties and public what jurisdiction it is exercising to decide these cross motions for summary judgment. *See*. App. A8. In fact, the Court of Appeals observes that it does not know how the superior court resolved this jurisdictional issue but finds no fault with the trial court keeping its resolution of this jurisdictional issue secret. *Id*. And then the Panel avoids deciding whether this foreclosure case, and the equitable defenses thereto, must be resolved in equity.

_

⁷ It is interesting to note that the 2003 Study included homeowners being dispossessed as part of those who were being harmed by a lack of justice. Notwithstanding, the number of homeowners being dispossessed in 2015 was much greater than in 2003, the 2015 Update excluded them from its purview.

This decision conflicts with Borton & Sons, Inc. v. Burbank Props., LLC, 196 Wn.2d 199, 471 P.3d 871 (2020) where this Court indicated reviewing courts should review de novo whether equity jurisdiction applies and, if so, review the Court's fashioning of equitable remedies based on an abuse of discretion standard. The Court of Appeals did neither here. The Court of Appeals simply indicated it did not know how the trial court resolved this jurisdictional issue, but whatever the trial court did was sufficient to pass its appellate review; which review ignored disputed facts and stretched to find favorable facts in support of National City and PNC.

At a time when it has become obvious that justice is absent for most litigants in Washington's courts, it is a matter of grave and substantial public importance to the People that this Court weigh in on the issue of whether superior courts must apply their equitable discretion in cases like this one, *i.e.*, where the parties plead causes of action that sound in equity and agree that relief should be pursuant to the superior court's equity jurisdiction.

B. Equity and the impairment of contracts clauses of the United States and Washington Constitutions require courts to apply the law of mortgages which was in effect at the time note and deed of trust agreements were executed.

Washington's legislature refused to pass laws that would enforce power of sales clauses nonjudicially in 1955, 1957, 1959, 1961, and 1963. See Gose, John A., The Deed of Trust Act in Washington, 41 Wash. L. R. 94 at n. 1 (1966). Gose suggests in this

article that the then recently enacted Deed of Trust Act, Ch. 61.24 RCW ("DTA") allowing "lenders/ beneficiaries" to foreclose nonjudically was finally passed in 1965 as a necessary accommodation to the wealthy; so that they would loan money to the People of Washington. *Id.* at 95, note 7. Gose's article concludes by setting forth a list of amendments which would make the DTA better from creditors' perspective. *Id.* at 104–107. The statute was promptly amended by Washington's political branches in 1967 to promote the interests of the wealthy. Since then, the political branches have amended the DTA on numerous occasions at the behest of lenders, including without limitation in 1975, 1981, 1985, 1987, 1989, 1990, 1991, 1998, 2004, 2008, 2009, 2011, 2012, 2013, 2014, and 2018.

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