FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/21/2021 4:29 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 997969

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

LAURA COZZA, et al.,

Defendant-Appellant.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

MICHAEL J. FARRELL, WSBA No. 18897 STEPHEN P. YOSHIDA, WSBA No. 43952 THOMAS W. PURCELL, WSBA No. 49450 MB LAW GROUP LLP 117 SW Taylor Street, Suite 200 Portland, OR 97204 Telephone: 503-914-2015

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Legal Standard

This Court may grant review of a decision of the Court of Appeals under the limited circumstances set forth in Rules of Appellate Procedure 13.4(b). Review is appropriate only if (1) the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with a decision by this Court; (2) the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; (3) there is a "significant question of law" under either the Washington Constitution or the United States Constitution involved; or (4) if "the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by" this Court. RAP 13.4(b).

For the reasons set forth below, the Petition does not satisfy any of the four criteria set forth in RAP 13.4(b). The Court of Appeals' affirmation of the trial court's order and entry of judgment does not conflict with any opinion by this Court nor any published decision by the Court of Appeals. Appellant's due process arguments are without merit and unpersuasive. Finally, despite Appellant's attempts to gain sympathy for her loss of the rental Property to foreclosure, there is no substantial public interest at issue in this matter. Appellant's campaign to delay foreclosure and to profit off

her mortgage and expense-free ownership of the Property, on which she has been collecting rental payments, should be put to an end.

B. Appellant's Petition Fails to Demonstrate That Either the Trial Court or the Court of Appeals Erred and Instead Focuses on Irrelevant and Unsupported Arguments Regarding Equity Jurisdiction

It is well-established that a motion for summary judgment is properly granted where the evidence establishes that there is no genuine issue of material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(e); see also Folsom v. Burger King, 135 Wn.2d 658, 663, 958 P.2d 301 (1998) (motion for summary judgment should be granted "only if, from all the evidence, a reasonable person could reach only one conclusion"). That is precisely what the trial court did here. It determined that there was no genuine issue of material fact and that PNC was entitled to entry of summary judgment in its favor as a matter of law, and that Appellant was not.

When an order granting or denying a motion for summary judgment is appealed, as here, a reviewing court applies a de novo standard of review and "engages in the same inquiry as the trial court[.]" *Id*. There is no authority that stands for the proposition that if a trial court exercises equitable jurisdiction, the standards for reviewing a motion for summary judgment, at the trial court level or on appeal, are any different.

Here, the Court of Appeals properly reviewed the trial court's order granting PNC's MSJ and denying the Cross-MSJ by examining each of the factual and legal issues raised on appeal as if it were the trial court. App A3-A17. Having done so, the Court of Appeals found no error by the trial court and confirmed trial court's summary judgment decisions. In her Petition seeking discretionary review, Appellant largely ignores her burden to demonstrate that the trial court erroneously granted PNC's MSJ and denied the Cross-MSJ, and instead focuses on irrelevant and unsupported arguments regarding equity jurisdiction.

Although it is hardly clear from her Petition, Appellant's first argument appears to be that the Court of Appeals was obligated to determine whether equity jurisdiction was applied by the trial court in deciding the respective summary judgment motions and, if so, to then review the "fashioning of equitable remedies under an abuse of discretion standard." Superior courts in Washington "are courts of general jurisdiction and have power to hear all matters legal and equitable in all proceedings known to the common law, except in so far as those have been expressly denied . . ." In Re Parentage of LB, 155 Wn. 2d 679, 697, 122 P. 2d 161 (2005) (internal citations omitted). Under Washington law, a state court "will invoke its equity jurisdiction only when there is no plain, adequate or speedy remedy at law." Tombari v. Griepp, 55 Wn. 2d 771, 778, 350 P. 2d 452 (1960),

citing *Roon v. King County*, 24 Wn. 2d 519, 166 P. 2d 165 (1946). Appellant provides no evidence as to whether the trial court invoked or exercised equity jurisdiction, or that the trial court fashioned any equitable remedies which required review by the Court of Appeals.

Appellant likewise provides no authority for her contention that the Court of Appeals was required to determine whether equity jurisdiction was or should have been applied by the trial court. Appellant argues incorrectly that the Court of Appeals' decision in this case conflicts with the court's opinion in Borton & Sons, Inc. v. Burbank Props., LLC, 196 Wn.2d 199, 471 P.3d 871 (2020). In Borton, the court did not, as Appellant suggests, hold that a reviewing court such as the Court of Appeals was required to determine de novo whether equity jurisdiction was or should have been applied by a trial court. The court in *Borton* instead held that the standard of review for a summary judgment order or an order granting an equitable remedy is de novo, while the standard of review for the fashioning of an equitable remedy is abuse of discretion. Id. at 205-06. Contrary to Appellant's suggestion otherwise, the Court of Appeals did, in fact, apply a de novo standard to its review of the trial court's ruling in this case, which is entirely consistent with the court's decision in Borton. The Court of Appeals did *not* acknowledge, as Appellant claims, that different standards apply to motions for summary judgments brought pursuant to a court's

equity jurisdiction. Also, contrary to Appellant's bald assertions, the Court of Appeals did not blindly affirm the trial court's ruling, ignore disputed facts, or stretch the facts to find in favor of PNC. Rather, the Court of Appeals provided a lengthy analysis of PNC's MSJ and addressed each purported issue of material fact that Appellant raised on appeal. App A3-A17. Appellant's equity jurisdiction arguments are irrelevant and provide no support for Appellant's Petition for discretionary review.

Finally, even if the trial court had applied equity jurisdiction and weighed the equities in addition to applying the normal standards governing consideration of motions for summary judgment, Appellant provides no evidence or even argument that the results would have been any different. In fact, any balancing of equities in this case would dictate a decision in favor of PNC. There is no dispute that Appellant defaulted on the Subject Loan in 2011, and that she has thereafter profited from the Property by renting it to third-parties and pocketing the rental income, while requiring PNC to pay taxes and insurance in order to protect PNC's interest in the Property. Appellant has received \$1,850 each month from her tenants since August 2014 which, over the past several years, amounts to tens-of-thousands of dollars more than the approximately \$86,400 Appellant paid to PNC on the Subject Loan.

Moreover, while Appellant was renting out the property, she applied for loan modifications ("at least 20 times" by her own testimony) and, on all of those modification applications, falsely represented that she was still living in the Property. Shockingly, Appellant was approved for a modification several times, but she rejected those offers. Equities do not, and would not, favor a borrower who takes a steady stream of rental income from a property, continually applies for modifications to forestall foreclosure proceedings, and then, when approved for a modified loan, rejects the offered modification.

Accordingly, for all of the above reasons, the Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with Washington law and there is nothing presented in Appellant's Petition to warrant this Court's discretionary review.

C. There is No Basis to Apply Washington Foreclosure Law from 2008 and PNC is Not Obligated to Prove Ownership of the Note to Pursue Foreclosure

Appellant's second argument is that the equity and impairment of contracts clauses of the United States and Washington Constitutions required the trial court to apply the law of mortgages that was in effect at the time the Subject Loan was obtained (2008) when ruling on PNC's MSJ and the Cross-MSJ. Petition 14-17. Specifically, Appellant argues that this Court's holding from *Bain v. Metro. Mortg. Grp., Inc.*, 175 Wn.2d 83, 285 P.3d 34 (2012) should have been applied to this case, apparently, for the

proposition that a foreclosing lender needs to prove ownership of the promissory note to establish standing to foreclose. Put differently, it appears that Appellant incorrectly believes that the Deed of Trust is unenforceable because PNC does not "own" the Note, which "split" the Note from the Deed of Trust.

However, *Bain* is irrelevant to this case. In *Bain*, this Court held that Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems' ("MERS") status as a nominee of a lender or beneficiary did not render MERS a lawful beneficiary when MERS did not hold the promissory note. *Bain*, 175 Wn.2d at 88-89. Here, MERS is not the foreclosing entity and PNC does hold the Note. *See* App A4-A5. Moreover, *Bain* does not stand for the proposition that PNC, as holder of the Note, lacks standing to foreclose unless it can prove that it owns or purchased the Note. Therefore, *Bain* has no relevance and does not support Appellant's argument.

The Court of Appeals rejected Appellant's argument based on well-established Washington authorities and found that the entity that holds the note is entitled to enforce it. App A4 (citing *Deutsche Bank Nat'l Tr. Co. v. Slotke*, 192 Wn. App. 166, 367 P.3d 600 (2016), review denied 185 Wn.2d 1037, 377 P.3d 746 (2016)).

In *Slotke*, the Court of Appeals applied the Washington Deed of Trust Act ("DTA"), as it existed in 2016, to a loan that originated in 2006.

Slotke, supra, 192 Wn. App. at 173-74. In doing so, the *Slotke* court rejected the exact argument that Appellant raises in her Petition, *i.e.*, that a foreclosing lender must prove that it is the owner of beneficial interest in the note. *Id.*

Indeed, as the *Slotke* court observed, this Court rejected Appellant's argument in 1969 in *John Davis & Co. v. Cedar Glen # Four*, 75 Wn.2d 214, 222-223, 450 P.2d 166: "The holder of a negotiable instrument may sue thereon in his own name, and payment to him in due course discharges the instrument. *See* RCW 62.01.051. It is not necessary for the holder to first establish that he has some beneficial interest in the proceeds. 12 Am. Jur. 2d *Bills and Notes* §§ 1069, 1071, 1072, 1075."

Appellant presents no other argument in support of her argument that a prior version of the DTA should apply to foreclosures commenced after amendments to the DTA. Nor does she even identify which provisions of the 2008 version of the DTA should apply. Regardless, prior versions of the DTA, as far back as 1969, did not require a foreclosing lender to prove ownership of the note. *See John Davis*, *supra*, 75 Wn.2d at 222-23.

Consequently, the Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with Washington law or present any "significant question of law" or "issue of substantial public interest" that warrants further review by this Court.

D. There Was No Violation of the Party Presentation Principle

Appellant's final argument is that the Court of Appeals violated the party presentation principle under federal law because the Court of Appeals did not address Appellant's arguments regarding equity and judicial neutrality to Appellant's satisfaction. Petition 17-19.

This argument is based on a clear misunderstanding of the principle. As the Supreme Court of the United States explained, "[i]n our adversary system, in both civil and criminal cases, in the first instance and on appeal, we follow the principle of party presentation. That is, we rely on the parties to frame the issues for decision and assign to courts the role of neutral arbiter of matters the parties present." *Greenlaw v. United States*, 554 U.S. 237, 244 (2008). Put differently, this principle recognizes the fact that the American adversary system is built on the "premise that the parties know what is best for them, and are responsible for advancing the facts and arguments entitling them to relief." *Id.* (internal quotes and citation omitted).

Based on this principle, courts do not, and should not, proactively search for issues to decide or "wrongs to right." *Greenlaw*, 554 U.S. at 244. (internal quotes and citation omitted). Therefore, when cases arise and issues are presented, courts normally only decide the questions that the parties present to them. *United States v. Sineneng-Smith*, 140 S.Ct. 1575,

1579 (2020). Essentially, the purpose of the party presentation principle is to prevent a reviewing court from interjecting and ruling on issues that were not raised by the parties themselves.

The party presentation principle is illustrated by the unwritten "cross-appeal rule" under which "an appellate court may not alter a judgment to benefit a nonappealing party." *Greenlaw*, 554 U.S. at 244. A cross-appeal is necessary to justify a remedy in favor of the nonappealing party. *Id*.

The principle was also applied in *Sineneng-Smith* where the Ninth Circuit had invited three *amici* to brief and argue issues that were not raised by the parties on appeal, including the constitutionality of a statute. *Sineneng-Smith*, 140 S.Ct. at 1580-81. The Ninth Circuit ultimately concluded that the statute was unconstitutional. *Id.* at 1581. Essentially, by virtue of the Ninth Circuit's adjudication, appellant's arguments "fell by the wayside, for they did not mesh with the panel's overbreadth theory of the case." *Id.* The Supreme Court of the United States found that there were no "extraordinary circumstances" that justified the Ninth Circuit's deviance from the "party-presented controversy" and remanded the case for reconsideration of the case as "shaped by the parties." *Id.* at 1581-82.

Here, it is indisputable that the Court of Appeals did not violate the party presentation principle in its decision. Unlike the Ninth Circuit in

Sineneng-Smith, the Court of Appeals did not interject issues that were not raised by Appellant on appeal. Nor did the Court of Appeals invite third-party briefing and then issue a decision solely based on issues raised in an amicus brief. Rather, the Court of Appeals considered and provided a well-reasoned analysis of each of the issues that Appellant raised on appeal. App A8, A13, & A15-A17. Therefore, there was no violation of the party presentation principle and the Petition should be denied.

V. CONCLUSION

The Petition is nothing more than the latest manifestation of Appellant's ongoing strategy to delay foreclosure while keeping 100% of her profits from renting the Property. Her "issues" for review are not even proper arguments and mainly consist of Appellant's misreading of various cases and precedent coupled with her presentation of an overly biased and skewed perspective on the Washington legal system. Ultimately, the Court of Appeals did not deviate from any established law and there are no issues that warrant the Court's review. Furthermore, the Petition fails because there is a glaring issue with Appellant's arguments: none of the three issues in the Petition establish a genuine issue of material fact and PNC would still

prevail on its MSJ and be entitled to a judgment of foreclosure. Therefore, based on all of the foregoing reasons, the Petition should be denied.